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IN THE MATTER OF CALIFORNIA PACIFIC MEDICAL GROUP, INC. DBA
BROWN AND TOLAND MEDICAL GROUP, A CORPORATION.

FT'C Docket No. 9306

COMMENTS OF CITIZENS FOR VOLUNTARY TRADE

Proposed Consent Order Announced February 9, 2004
Comments Filed Mazch 10, 2004

Pursuant to 16 CF.R. § 3.25(f) and the Federal Trade
Commission’s publication of a proposed consent agreement in the
above-captioned matter!, Citizens for Voluntary Trade, a Virginia
nonprofit corporation, files the following comments.

Relevant Facts

An independent practice association, or IPA, is a group of
physicians and other health care providers, including hospitals,
who contract with a managed care organization, such as a health
maintenance organization (HHMO) to provide services for mnanaged
care subscribers. Some IPAs share financial risk among its
physician members, while others do not.

In 1992 four San Francisco IPAs merged into a 692-member IPA
called California Pacific Medical Group (CPMG). By 1996, CPMG's
patient base included about 135,000 subscribers. In August 1996,
CPMG'’s members, all private practice physicians, merged with the
University of California at San Francisco Medical Group, who were
doctors employed by that university’s hospital. The new IPA,
called Brown & Toland Medical Group (BTMG), began operating in
1997 and included contracts with 14 HMOs representing about
178,000 subscribers. BTMG's network was composed of about equal
numbers of private-practice and UCSF physicians.

169 Fed. Reg. 7A485-7,485 (Feb. 17, 2004).
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The 1996 merger resulted in BTMG assurning control of UCSF's
management organizabon, which handled services such as bill
processing, filing reports, and paying member physicians their fees.
BIMG converted this management organization into a for-profit
entity in 1997, but this venture guickly ran into financial trouble.
BTMG had difficulty finaricing its for-profit organization, however,
and the JPA incurred a $.5 million loss in October 1998. UCSF
Stanford Health Care Center, the hospital employing BTMG's
members, reportedly covered their physicians for losses related to
this incident, an amount estimated at about $1 million. BTMG has
since reduced the scope of its management organization, and
BTMG claims it is no longer losing money. BTMG's reported 2002
revenue was $189 million. _

In recent years, California consurmers have left HMOs in favor
of other types of managed care organizations. Dr. Kevin Grumbach,
a UCSF professor and director of the Center for California Health
Workforce Studies, described the change in the managed care
climate in a December 2002 survey: “California led the nation's
charge into managed care. Our study of the state's physicians tells
us that California has now sounded the retreat . . . Private
physicians are starting to abandon HMOs, IPAs and managed care
networks” 2 One place physicians started going was preferred-

provide organizations, or PPOs.

BTMG offered a tradional HMO product, but when those
revenues began to decline in the late 1990s, the IPA began to offer a
PPO product as well. PPOs allow individual consurners to choose

from among multiple physicians within a network, while
physicians receive a discounted fee for each patient treated. Many
businesses that insure their employees prefer the PPO model
because it is subject to less regulatory requirements than HMOs,
and specific benefits can be added or dropped to control costs.

Because BTMG includes more than 1,500 providers, including
about 650 in its PPO network, the FIC opened a formal
Investigation in 2002 to determine whether or not the PPO network
complied with federal antitrust laws. After several months of
negotations, the FTC decided to file an administrative complaint
against BTMG in July 2003, charging the IPA with violating §5 of

2 “California Physicians are Dropping Out of Managed Care, According to UCSE
Researchers”. Available at

hitp:/ /www futurehealth ucsf edu/press_releases/CWIdroppingout html (December 2,
2002). ,
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the Federal Trade Commission Act, which generally prohibits
unfair methods of competition.

The FTC’s complaint alleged that BTMG’s PPO network wras, in
reality, a scheme to collectively fix and raise the prices for Physician
services in the San Francisco market. Under a 1993 FTC policy, any
joint contracting by physicians with third-party payers is generally
condemned as an antitrust violation, unless certain criterja are met
regarding a groups’ structure and business operations. BTMG
irutially rejected the FIC's argument, claiming the PPO was
designed expressly to comply with federal antitrust policy.

In December 2003, BTMG and the FTC withdrew this case from
adjudication, and opted to settle on terms favorable to the
Commission. The proposed order now before the FTC prevents
BIMG from jointly contracting with any third-party payer or
insurer without the prior consent of the FTC. The propesed order
states any future joint contracting by BTMG must be accompanied
by significant pooling of financial risk or clinical integration. The
FTC claims the proposed order will restore competition and lower
CONSUINeEr prices. :

CVT’s Standard of Analysis

Citizens for Voluntary Trade is a nonprofit, nonpartisarn,
educational organization that analyzes antirust and competition
laws from a pro-reason, pro-capitalism perspective. CVT seeks to
expand the general public’s understanding of these laws by
providing meaningful context to individual cases, such as this one,
where the rights of businesses are adjudicated in an administrative
setting outside the courts and the marketplace. Our analysis serves
both as an intellectual check on the work of the Federal Trade
Commission, and as a means of applying the ethical values of
reason, individual rights, and capitalism to contemporary public
policy issues. _

In analyzing the proposed order, CVT applies a standard of
analysis consistent with our pro-reason, pro-capitalism approach to
public policy. This means three things. First, we presuime reason is
man’s only means of knowledge, and thus reason is the only
objective standard for determining ethical values. Second,
consistent with a reason-based epistemology and ethics, we
presume men do not have the right to initiate force against one
another, and that in an economic context, this means men must



INTHE MATTER OF BROWN AND TOLAND MEDICAL GRrour

Comments of Citizens for Voluntary Trade

deal with one another as traders who engage in voluntary exchange
free of coercion. Finally, based on the first two criteria, we presume
the only political system that promotes . rational ethics and
voluntary trade is one where the sole function of government is to
identify and protect individual rights.

The United States Constitution, read in conjunction with the
principles set forth in the Declaration of Independence, provide the
framework for a government that satisfies the criteria stated above.
Accordingly, the propesed order must ultimately be reconciled
with the Constitution and its animating principles. To the extent
particular statutes, including the Federal Trade Commission Act
and related rules, conflict with the Constitution, we treat the
constitutional principles as controlling.

Comments

CVT will address three questions in these comments: First, does
the FTC’s complaint state adequate grounds for prosecuting this
case and obtaining relief; second, will the public benefit from the
terms of the settlement; and third, did the FTC adequately protect
the constitutional rights of BTMG in this proceeding. For the
reasons set forth below, CVT answers all three of these questons in
the negative.3

Comment 1: The complaint fails to state any rational basis for entering

the proposed order.

Before the FTC can justify the terms of the consent order, it rnust
first establish that a reasonable basis existed to charge BTMG with
violating §5 of the FTC Act. Because more than 90% of FTC cases
are settled without trial, CVT considers it essential to review the
FIC's exercise of prosecutorial discretion. We conduct this review
based only on the facts alleged in the complaint, BTMG’s answer,
the settlement documents, and any information independently
obtained and verified by CVT. We give no deference to the FTC
conclusions of law based on the political views of the

3 CVT considered addressing a fourth question — does the FTC have Jurisdiction in this
matter —but because BTMG never challenged jurisdiction, either in its answer to the
complaint or in the proposed order, we decline to address the issue here. For the record,
however, CVT reiterates its general objection to the use of federa] antitrust laws to govern
the economic relationship between doctozs within a single state or locality, given that state
governments extensively regulate such relationships already.
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commissioners, anfitrust theories that lack substantial factual
support, or speculation as to future events outside the FTC or
BTMG’s control.

a. Market definition.

In any antitrust case, the government or private plaintiff must
first define the specific market allegedly harmed by the defendant’s
conduct. Although the “marketplace” conceptually incorporates all
trade in all industries, for purposes of assessing a particular case, it
is useful and necessary to define the particular geographic and
economic sub-markets involved.

The FTC's complaint alternatively states the geographic market
in this case as the “San Francisco metropolitan area” (paragraph 8)
and the “city of San Francisco, California” (paragraph 22). It is
unclear if the FTC considers the San Francisco “metropolitan area”
the same geographic region as the city of San Francisco. The Bureau
of the Census states the “San Francisco Metropolitan Statistical
Area” (hereafter “SFIM5A”) is comprised of San Franciseco, San
Mateo, and Marin counties.* Because BTMG admitted it has
affiliated physicians and HMO customers located “outside of San
Francisco”, we consider the SFMSA, the geographic market in this
case. The SEFSMA has an estimated population of 1.79 million.

CVT does not have specific information regarding the number
of licensed physicians within the SFMSA. According to the
American Medical Association, however, there are approximately
91,000 non-federal physicians in the state of California’ Since
physicians licensed in California may practice anywhere in the
state —there’s no legal distinction between a San Francisco doctor
and a Los Angeles doctor —we presume the market for “physician
services” includes the estimated 91,000 non-federal physicians
residing within the state.

BTMG says 630 of its approximately 1,500 physicians participate
in the PPO network at issue in this case. These 630 physicians thus
constitute about .06% of all physicians within the relevant market.
This figure obviously does not account for the actual wealth
generated by the BTMG physicians within the SFMSA —

“ The SEMSAs principal cities include San Francisco, Oakland, Freemont. Hayward.
Berkley, San Mateo, San Leandro, Redwood City, Walnut Creek, Pleasanton, South San
Francisco, and San Rafael,

> Non-federal physicians excludes physicians working dirsctly for the federal government,
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presumably they enjoy a greater market share than physicians
outside the regjon —but in the absence of any statistical information
from the FIC proposing a narrower construction of the market,
CVT must judge the available figures. And these figures clearly
demonstrate BTMG holds nothing approaching “momnopoly power”
or even sufficient numbers to unilaterally determine market Prices.

b. Legal standard.

Secon 5 of the FTC Act prohibits “[u]nfair methods of
competition in or affecting commerce”.® The precise definition of
“unfair” competition is left largely to the FTC’s discretion. In this
case, the FTC claims that it was unfair for BTMG “to agree
collectively on the prices and other competitively significant terms
on which [BTMG physicians] would enter into contracts with
health plans or other third-party payors”.” The FTC concluded this
conduct was unfair, and thus banned by §5, because it “had the
purpose and effect of rajsing prices for physician services in San
Francisco, California” 3 :

A federal law is not valid under the U.S. Constitution unless it
enables a rational citizen to understand ex ante what conduct is
illegal. Thus, the FTC must have precisely and clearly defined
“unfair competition” prior to BTMG's alleged transgressions of §5.
Although the FIC cites no specific authority or definition in its
cornplaint, we assume the Commission acted under its 1993
Staternents of Antitrust Enforcement Policy in Health Care (the
“Statements”)%, which reflect the policy views of the FTC and the
Department of Justice’s Antitrust Division. The Statements
generally treat physician joint negotiating a per se antitrust violation
in the absence of an unspecified level of “risk-sharing integration”.
In other words, unless physicians share financial risk by joining
their practices at a clinical level, they are banned from jointly
contracting with insurers and payers.

Before the government may regulate a business practice, it must
first establish the constitutional and statutory authority to regulate
at all. Here the FTC (and DOYJ) constructed a two-part justification
for the Statements” policy: First, the Statements presume physician

815 U.S.C. 545(a)(1).

? Complaint, para. 1.

8 1d.

¢ Available at http:/ /wwrw.fic.gov/ reports/hlth9s.him.
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joint contracting with payers is price fixing, a long-established per
se violation of the Sherman Act; and second, the FTC treats all
Sherman Act violations as “unfair competition” under §5.

In its answer to the complaint, BTMG did not contest the
Statements or the FTC’'s view of physician contracting. Instead
BTMG argued that it had complied with the Statements, and that
its PPO network conducted itself “ancillary to a lawful joint
venture”. Gloria Austin, BTMG’s chief executive, said in July 2003
that BTMG “developed our PPO mode] within the guidelines of the
FTC and we firmly believe our model is good for patients and
physicians”.

The FTC disputed BTMG's claims that the PPO network had
sufficient clinical integration to justify joint contracting activities.
The complaint stated that the PPO physicians “do not share
financial risk in connection with the provision of services to PPO
enrollees” (paragraph 11). The complaint said that even if BTMG
achieved clinical efficiencies in its other managed-care services,
there was no “ongoing mechanism to ensure that those potential
efficiencies are replicated in services provided by the PPO
network” (paragraph 12). BTMG denied this allegation, but said it
lacked adequate information to conclude whether its PPO members
shared financial risk.1?

The debate over BTMG'’s financial and clinical risk-sharing
raises three questions: What constitutes enough risk-sharing and
clinical integration to protect a physician group from antitrust
prosecution? Does a lack of adequate risk-sharing support the
conclusion that physician joint contracting is “unfair” competition?
And did BTMG make a good-faith effort to comply with the rules
set forth by the FTC? :

On the first question, CVT finds there is no conclusive answer.
Since there is no constitutional or statutory support for the FTC’s
requirement that physicians share financial risk as a precondition
‘to any lawful joint contracting, the Commission is the sole arbiter of
what constitutes “enough” risk-sharing. But neither the Statements
nor the FIC’s filings in this case provide an adequate definition.
This is not a new problem. Physicians and attorneys that specialize
in healthcare antitrust policy have long been unsure of the FTC's
specific requirements for risk-sharing. Joseph Ardery of the law
firm Frost Brown Todd recently wrote, in response to another

10 Angwer at 6.
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pending FTC complaint against a physician group, said that the
Statements are “helpful”, but:

they establish few bright line tests. Many physicians
are left wondering: “What is the minimal armount of
integration that I have to achieve with that other
practice group, short of billing through a single entity,
in order to work with them in negotiating the prices
in our payor contracts?”11

CVT cannot answer this question. And despite developing their
PPO model over several years in consultation with presumably
competent antitrust attorneys, neither could BTMG. This leads us to
infer that the FTC's standards for physician risk-sharing is
insufficiently clear as to provide physicians with meaningful
guidance on how to avoid antitrust prosecution.

The second question we asked bears substantial relation to the
tirst. Since the FTC’s risk-sharing guidelines are at best vague, there
is a strong presumption against relying on them to support a
charge of “unfair competition” against BTMG. At a minimnum,
fairness requires that all parties subject to a rule can reasonably
understand the rule’s meaning. Additionally, fairness implies that
all parties to a rule are held to the same standard of conduct. It's
unfair, for example, if a baseball game pitted a team of nine players
against a team of six. But conversely, it is fair for a hockey team to
play without one or two players as the consequence of a penalty.
"And in an regulatory context, it is unfair when the government
subjects similarly-situated businesses to different rules of conduct,
but unfairness is not an issue when businesses treated equally
before the law produce different profit levels. Fairness does not
require equal outcomes, only equal and non-discriminatory access.

In this case, the FTC-DOJ Statements intentionally subject
physicians to different standards than those of the insurers and
payers physicians contract with. On the legislative level, Congress
has encouraged the formation of managed-care organizations
through a combination of taxpayer subsidies, preferential tax
treatment, and antitrust exemptions. Physicians do not enjoy this
level of privilege, thus they come to the bargaining table in an
“unfair” position. The FTC’s policies compound this unfairness by

" Joseph L. Ardery, “FTC Allegation of Physician Price Fixing May Lead to Useful
Guidance”. Available at
http:/ /www_frostbrowntodd.com/ practice_arens/ pdfs/MedN ews_9-03Ardery him.






